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ERGEA UK AND IRELAND LINMITED

STRATEGIC REPORT
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

Introduction
The directors present their Strategic Report for Frgea UK and Ireland Ltd { the Campany”) and its subsidiaries {"the
Group"} for the year ended 31 December 2022.

Business review

Ergea UK and Ireland Limited are leading specialists in the praovision of Healthcare Technology Management delivering
bespoke sclutions to the Healthcare sector, providing repair and maintenance, equipment planning, procurement,
training and medical equipment asset management services for our clients.

In July 2022, the cwner of the UK Group completed the agreement to sell the business to the private equity company
F2i with a back-to-back arrangement where the Company and Group was sold to Ergéa Group S.a.r.l, a Group
ultimately business owned by DWS Infrastructure (DWS). DWS is ane of the world’s leading asset managers with over
CUR902b of assets under management. The change of ownership did not impact the Company and Group’s ability to
continue providing services or to operate as a going concern. Existing intercompany loans were purchased by Ergéa
Group S.a.r.l. as part of the agreement.

In March 2023, the Company changed its name to Ergea UK and Ireland Limited {formally Althea UK and Ireland
Limited).

Financial key performance indicators
The below summarises the Group's financial key performance indicators for the period ended 31 December 2022.

2022 2021 change change
£000 £0C0 £000 %
Consclidated Revenue 108,835 103,753 5,082 5%
Consolidated Gross profit 23,289 23,483 (194) (1%)
Consolidated EBIT 15,257 15,950 (693) (4%)

The directors are satisfied with the continued growth of the Group.

Principal risks and uncertainties

National economic, strategic and policy conditions

The Group acknawledges the importance of maintaining close relationships with its key customers in order to be able
to identify the early signs of potential financial difficulties, national policy changes, or strategic changes to the
customer structure which may affect the success of the cantract.

Competitor pressure
The Group manages this risk by providing a quality service, maintaining strong relationships with the customer, and
developing new products which provide a unique propeosition.

Loss of key personnel
This would present significant aperational difficulties for the Group. Management seek to ensure that key personnel are
appropriately remunerated to ensure goed performance is recognised.
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ERGEA UK AND IRELAND LIMITED

STRATEGIC REPORT (CONTINUED)
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

Supplier relationships

The Group's purchasing activities could expose its over reliance on certain suppliers and pricing pressures. The Group
manages this risk by ensuring a broad supplier base including original equipment manufacturers and third party suppliers,
as well as the capabilities of the wider Ergea Group.

Cnntractual perfarmanre
Long term service and maintenance contracts may not be delivered to the agreed contractual standards and within
budgeted costs. Unforeseen service events could increase costs within a financial period, although the long terms trends
are expected to remain stable, The Group uses information systems to closely monitor equipment under management
and to actively manage the portfolio through experienced and qualified staff using professional procurement and
management techniques.

Financial risks
Financial risks are referenced with the Directors Report under the Financial Instruments heading.

Other key performance indicators

Operational KPIs are measured against customer contracts. These are peculiar to the specific contract and are
confidential. The KPIs are shared with the ather party to the contract. Management is satisfied that all of the operational
KPIs have been met for the current year.

Statement by the directors in perfarmance of their statutory duties in accordance with s172(1} Companies Act 2006
In accordance with the Regulations, the Directors hereby confirm that we have complied with the provisions of the
Regulations and, in good faith, how we have acted in regard to the long term success of the Group, under section 172(1).

Suppliers
The Directors recognises the key role suppliers play in ensuring Ergea delivers a reliable service to our customers. Regular
meetings with suppiiers provide an opportunity to directly hear from them about their current challenges.

We aim to treat our suppliers fairly and pay them within agreed timescales, holding ourselves to high standards of
business conduct.

Customers

Customers are at the heart of everything Ergea does. We aim to deliver outstanding experiences, for both patients and
customers combined with value for money. The directors meet regularly with customers which provides opportunities
to gain insight into custemer issues and challenges.

A customer experience survey is undertaken every 6 months to provide a useful insight into the customer experience.
The Directors review the outcome of the survey as part of the business reviews throughout the year.

Employees

Ergea is committed to achieving its business objectives through its people. The business accepts its ethical and corporate
social responsibilities and recognises its ohligation to conduct its activities in full knowledge of, and compliance with, the
requirements af applicable employment legislation and Approved Codes of Practice. The business will achieve this by
adopting a palicy of best practice in all people management procedures.

Ergea Directors engage with its employees thraugh quarterly business meetings, intranet and email communications and
through annual employee survey.
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ERGEA UK AND IRELAND LIMITED

STRATEGIC REPORT (CONTINUED)
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

Stakeholder engagement

Ergea UK and Ireland is a wholly own subsidiary of Ergéa Group S.a.r.l. and as such there is a close engagement between
the UK board and the Group board to align the activities of the UK within the group to promote long term value and
reduce agency efflecls.

Governance

Ergea's policy is to conduct all of our business in an honest and ethical manner. Ergea takes a zerc tolerance approach
to bribery and corrugtion, and we are committed to acting professionally, fairly and with integrity in all our business
dealings and relationshios wherever we operate.

At board meetings the Directors address compliance by the husiness with its governance codes and reinforces the boards
requirements that its business be conducted 1o all due ethical standards and with integrity.

Community, environment and sustainability

Ergea is committed te managing the wider social, environmental and economic impacts of its operations. Ergea fully
supports initiatives such as the NHS Carbon Reduction Strategy which aims to meet its legal targets set outin the Climate
Change Act.

Ergea has made the following provisions to reduce its environmental impact at all locations:
« Applying sustainability principles to all operations where practicable.

e Switching off lights, and all other electrical equipment when not in use.

e  Maintaining electronic records and minimising the use of paper.

* Encouraging the use of renewable energy where appropriate.

¢ Measuring and monitoring activities on a whoie life cycle cost basis.

¢ Operating an Environmental Management System.

Qur quality and environmental management systems ensure that our processes are continually improved.

We are committed to making a positive contribution to the communities within which we cperate, including the payment
of taxes, reducing our environmental impact and creating employment opportunities.

2022 saw a change of ownership for the UK arganisation which gave an opportunity to consider, along with cur new
Group, what our goal is. We engaged with our staff and key stakeholders to understand what they felt our organisation
stoad for. The outcome, which supported a rebranding for the Company and the Group, was that we exist to Enable
Healthcare Potential. What we do, either through our actions or our suppliers, brings better healthcare to the place
where it has the most significant impact — at the patient interface. This clarity of vision helps us partner with our
customers, suppliers, and staff to deliver a positive outcome where it matters.
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ERGEA UK AND |RELAND LIMITED

STRATEGIC REPORT {CONTINUED)
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

This report was approved by the board on 28 September 2023 and signed on its behalf.

Director
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ERGEA UK AND IRELAND LIMITED

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

The directors present their report and the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022.

Directors
The directors who served during the year were:

D. A. Rolfe

A. Dogliani (resigned 26 July 2022}

E. Mambelli (resigned 26 July 2022)

A. Mussari {appointed 26 July 2022, resigned 31 Cecember 2022)

Results and dividends
The profit for the year, after taxation, amounted to £11,201 thousand (2021 - £12,352 thousand).

The directars recammended and paid during Lthe year a dividend £17,000 thousand (2021 - £2,000 thcusand}.

Future Developments
The directors are committed to providing an exceltent level of service on the Group's contracts and ta exploring ways of
enhancing and expanding those contracts in addition to gaining new contracts.

Going concern
In preparation of the financial statements, the Directors are required to make an assessment of the business to
determine if adopting a going concern hasis in the accounts is appropriate.

The Directors have conducted a business review and have a reasonable expectation that the Company and Greoup have
adequate resources to continue in operatlional existence until 31 December 2024, Even in a zera-growth scenario where
no new business is added, the Company and Group generates positive cashflows. A material proportion of the business
comes from the NHS (backed by UK Government), and from long-term contracts providing certainty of income beyond
the Going Concern assessment pericd. The Directors have assessed the political, economic, social and technology risks
and believe the Company and Group is well placed to successfully manage these risks.

The Directors have received confirmation from its parent that it has the ability to provide support and will provide
support in the event this is needed to assist in meeting the Company and Group's liabilities as and when they fall due for
the perigd lor 4 period of at least 12 months fram the date of approval of these financial statements. the parent has
also confirmed that reimbursement of the existing intercompany loans would anly be required if the Company and Group
had the necessary financial resources to do so.

Accordingly, they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements.
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ERGEA UK AND IRELAND LIMITED

DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting (SECR)

Energy consumption used: (kwh)
Electricity (kWh)

Gas (kWh)

Transport fuel (kWh)

Total energy consumption

Emissions (tCO2e}
Scope i - Natural gas, and diesel for electricity peneraticn
Emissions frem combustion of gas

Emissions from combustion of fuel for transport purposes

Scope 2 - Purchased electricity

Emissions fram purchased electricity {location based method*)
Emissions from purchased electricity (market based method**)

Scope 1 & 2

Total Scope 1+2 emissions {[ocation based method*®)

Totel Scope 1+2 emissions (market hased method**}

Scope 3 - Business travel in employee vehicles

Emissians from husiness travel in rental cars or employee vehicles where
the Group is responsible for purchasing the fuel

Emissions from upstream transport and distribution losses and excavation
and transport of fuels (location based method*)
Emissions from upstream transport and distribution losses and excavation
and transport of fuels (market based method**)
Total location based tCO2e
Total emissions for mandatory reporting {location based reporting)
Total emissions {market based reporting)

Intensity Ratios:

Revenue (£000)

Number of full time employees {FTE)
Location based method*

Intensity ratio: tCO2e f £m

Intensity ratio: tCO2e / FTE

Market based method**

Intensity ratio: tCO2e / £m

Intensity ratic: tCO2e / FTE
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2022 2021 % change
618,746 661,710 {6%)
5,383 2,860 82%
1,035,940 528,740 36%
1,660,069 1,193,410 39%
0.98 0.54 81%
227.46 98.67 131%
119.65 154.27 (22%)

- 29.36 {(100%)

348.09 253.48 37%
227.46 128.03 78%
28.15 31.35 (10%)
109.86 59.88 57%
67.68 40.51 67%
486.10 354.81 37%
324.27 200.44 62%
2022 2021 % change
108,835 103,753 5%
335 300 7%
4.47 3.42 31%
1.45 1.18 28%
2.98 1.93 54%
0.97 0.65 49%



ERGEA UK AND IRELAND LIMITED

DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

Streamlined Energy and Carbon Repaorting {SECR) {continued)

* Locdation-based reporting: This method reflects the average emissions intensity of grids on which energy consumption
occurs {using mostly grid-average emission factor data). In Ergea UK and Ireland’s case the UK National Grid average
emissions per kWh is utilised.

** Market-based reporting: This cafculation method uses Ergea UK and Ireland’s specific electricity fuel mixes (100%
renewable from Feb 2021) to calculate GHG emissions.

Energy efficiency actions in 2022
The following energy efficiencies were implemented during the year:

+ We have worked on initiatives which will help our staff manage their own personal carbon footprint which
include eptions such as launching an Electric Car Salary Sacrifice scheme in January 2022. This will sit alongside
our long-standing cycle to work scheme.

* Electric Vehicle charging point installation in the Q1 2022,

s Current Lease review on company vehicles/vans seeking hybrid or electric zalternatives.

+ Advanced driving courses implemented in Q4 2022.

Future actions
In 2023 efforts will be continued to identify and deliver increased energy efficiency through the following:

« Carbon Neutrality courses for the compliance team
s« Environment Social and Governance (ESG) reporting on a quarterly basis
e (Carbeon Reduction Flan

Financial instruments

The Group's aim is to ensure that the use of financial instruments does not increase the risks inherent in the Group's
operations. Palicies are in place to minimise the risks that counterparties to financial instruments not performing their
contractual commitments.
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ERGEA UK AND IRELAND LIMITED

DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

Exposure to price, credit, liquidity, cash flow foreign currency risk and interest rate risk.

Price risk arises where the Group is contractually obliged to purchase assets and services at market price under a contract
with fixed revenue, such that the margin on the contract is uncertain. The nature of the Group's operations minimises its
exposure to such risk.

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will have difficulty setting its liabilities as they fall due. This risk is managed by
maonitoring cash generation and collection in all the Group's aperations and maintaining appropriate facilities through its
parent which provide borrowing capacity well in excess of anticipated operational requirements.

Credit risk is the risk that the Group will suffer a financial loss because a counterparty to financial instrument does not
discharge its operations. The Company's policies aim to minimise such losses by assessing the payment history and
creditworthiness of counterparties before entering into contracts on deferred terms.

Cash flow risk is the risk of exposure ta variahility in future cash flows relating to recognised assets ar liahifities, such as
variable interest rates on borrowings. The Company is selective about its exposure to such risks and may use derivative
financial instruments to mitigate any exposure that arise.

Foreign currency risk is the risk that exchanges rates between the Group's eperating currencies may vary, reducing the
recoverable amount of assets or the present value of future income streams. The Group minimises this exposure by
seeking as far as possible to match the currency of cash inflows and outflows, and of borrowings financing acquired assets.

Disclosure of information to auditors
Each of the persons who are directors at the time when this Directors' Report is approved has confirmed that:

« 50 far as the director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Company and the Group's auditors

are unaware, and
¢ the director has taken all the steps that ought to have heen taken as a director in order to be aware of any relevant
audit information and to establish that the Company and the Group 's auditors are aware of that information.

Post year end events
No adjusting or significant non-adjusting events have occurred between the 31 December reporting date and the date

of autherisation.
The financial statements have been prepared based upon conditions existing at 31 December 2022 and considering
those events occurring subsequent to that date, that provide evidence of conditions that existed at the end of the

reporting period.

Auditors
The auditors, Ernst & Young LLP, will be proposed for reappointment in accordance with section 485 of the Companies

Act 2006.

This report was approved by the board on 28 September 2023 and signed on its behalf.

D A Rolfe
Director
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ERGEA UK AND IRELAND LIMITED

DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITIES STATEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

The directars are responsible for preparing the strategic report, directors' report and the consolidated financial
statements, in accordance with applicahle United Kingdom law and regutations.

Company law reguires the directors to prepare consolidated financiai statements for each financial year. Under that law
they have elected to prepare the consolidated tinancial statements in accordance with UK-adopted International
Accounting Standards and the Parent company financial statements in accordance with UK accounting standards and
applicable law, including FRS101 The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Repuklic of treland.

Under company law the directors must not approve the consolidated financial statements unless they are satisfied that
they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and the Company and of the profit or loss of the Group
for that period. In preparing the consolidated financizal statements, the directors are required to:

- select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently,
. make judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
. present information, including accounting policies, in a manner that provides relevant, reliable, comparable and

understandahle information;

. provide additional disclosures when compliance with the specific requirements in IFRSs {and in respect of the
parent company financial statements, FRS 101} is insufficient to enable users to understand the impact of
particular transactions, other events and conditions on the group and company financial position and financial
performance;

. in respect of the group financial statements, state whether UK-adopted international accounting standards have
been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements;

. in respect of the parent company financial statements, state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards,
including FRS 101, have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the financizal
statements]; and

. prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Group
and Company will continue in business.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the parent
Company's and group ‘s transactions and disclose with reasonahle accuracy at any time the financial position of the
parent Company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They
are responsible for such internal control as they determine is necessary ta enable the preparation of financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and have general responsibility for taking such
steps as are reasonahbly open to them to safeguard the assets of the Group and parent company and hence for taking
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

Under applicable law and regulations, the directors are also responsible for preparing a strategic report and directors’

report, that comply with that law and those regulations. The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity
of the corporate and financial informatian included an the company’s website.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF ERGEA UK AND IRELAND LIMITED

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Ergea UK and Ireland Ltd (‘the parent company’) formerly known as Althea
UK and Ireland Ltd and its subsidiaries (the ‘group’) for the year ended 31 December 2022 which comprise Consolidated
Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income, the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position, the
Consclidated Statement of Changes in Cquity, the Cansolidaled Stalement of Cash Flows, the Company Balance Sheet, the
Company Statement of Changes in Equity and the related notes 1 to 30 for the Group and related notes 1 to 15 for the
Parent company, including a summary of significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has been
applied in the preparation of the group financial statements is applicable law and UK adopted Internaticnal Accounting
Standards and as regards the parent company financia! statements is applicable law and United kingdom accounting
standards, including FRS 101- Reduced Disclosure Framework as applied in accordance with the provisions of the
Companies Act 2006.

In our opinicn:

e the financial statements give a true and fair view of the group's and of the parent company’s affairs as at 31 December
2022 and of the group’s profit for the year then ended;

e thegroup financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with UK adopted International Accounting
Standards;

s the parent company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with UK adopted International
Accounting Standards as applied in accordance with section 408 of the Companies Act 2006; and

s the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing {UK) (1SAs (UK)) and applicable law. Qur
responsififities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial
statements section of our report. We are independent of the group in accordance with the ethical requirements that are
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard and we have fulfilled our
ather ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the geing cencern basis of accounting
in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions
that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the group and parent company’s ability to continue as a
going concern for a period of twelve months from when the financial statements are autherised for issue.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the relevant

sections of this report. However, because not all future events or conditions can be predicted, this statement is not a
guarantee as to the group’s ability ta continue as a going concern.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF ERGEA UK AND IRELAND LIMITED {CONTINUED)

Other information

The other information comprises the information included in the annual report, other than the financial statements and
aur auditor’s report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information contained within the annual
repert.

Qur opinion on the finandial slalements does nol cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise
explicitly stated in this report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

Our respansibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the course of the audit ar otherwise appears to
be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies ar apparent material misstatements, we are
required to determine whether this gives rise to a material misstatement in the financial statements themselves. If,
based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of the other information, we
are required to repart that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

in our opinian, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

e the information given in the strategic report and the directors’ report for the financial year for which the financial
staternents are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and

¢ the strategic report and directors’ report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the group and the parent company and its environment obtained in
the course of the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the strategic report or directors’ report.

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006 requires us to

repart ta you if, in our opinion:

e adequate accounting records have not heen kept by the parent company, or returns adequate for our audit have not
heen received from branches not visited by us; or

e the parent company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or

e certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by lJaw are not made; or

* we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

Responsibilities of directors

As explained mare fully in the directors’ responsibilities statement set out on page 12, the directors are responsible for
the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financiai statements, the directors are respansible for assessing the group’s and the parent company’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters refated to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the group or the parent company or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF ERGEA UK AND IRELAND LIMITED (CONTINUED}

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accerdance with [SAs
(UK} will always delect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken an the basis of these financial statements.

Explanation as to what extent the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line
with our responsibifities, outlined above, to detect irregularities, including fraud. The risk of not detecting 2 material
misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting one resulting from error, as fraud may involve deliberate
concealment by, for example, forgery or intentional misrepresentations, or through collusion. The extent to which our
praocedures are capahble of detecting irregularities, including fraud is detailed below. However, the primary responsibility
for the prevention and detection of fraud rests with both those charged with governance of the entity and management.

* We obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory frameworks that are applicable to the Group and Parent
company and determined that the most significant are those related to the reporting framework (UK adeopted
International Accounting Standards for the Group, United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice for the
Parent company, the Company’s Act 2006 and the relevant tax compliance regulations in the UK for both the Group
and Parent company). In addition, the Group and Parent Company have to comply with laws and regulations relating
to their operations, including health and safety and GDPR.

* We understood how the Group and the Company is complying with those frameworks by making inquiries of
management and those charged with governance 1o understand how the Group and Parent Company maintain and
communicate their pelicies and procedures in these areas, and to understand the culture and whether there is a
strong emphasis placed on fraud prevention, which may reduce opportunities for fraud to take place as weli as fraud
deterrence. We corroborated our enqguiries through our review of board minutes and other supporting
documentation. Further, we made consideration of the results of our audit procedures perfermed to either
corroborate or provide contrary evidence which was then followed up.

+  We assessed the susceptibility of the Company’s financial statements to material misstatement, including how fraud
might occur by considering the risk of maznagement override to achieve revenue targets via topside manual journal
entries posted to revenue, manipulation of contract variations; and manipulation of timing of revenue recognition.
Our procedures invelved:

(a) testing journals identified by specific risk criteria inciuding testing of specific transactions to source
documentation or independent confirmation, ensuring appropriate authorisation of the transactions;

{b) For MES caontracts review of contract variations, testing monthly invoices and payments, recalculation of interest
inceme an contracts; and

(c) for maintenance contracts we have tested accrued revenue, deferred revenue and revenue by reviewing the
contract, performing cut-off procedures, vouching payments received, and invoices raised

+ Based cn this understanding we designed our audit procedures to identify noncompliance with such laws and
regulatiocns. Our procedures involved a review of the Board minutes to identify any non-compliance with laws and
regulations and enquiries of management and those charged with governance and journal entry testing with a focus
on topside manual journal entries and any unusual transactions based on the understanding of the group.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITQR'S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF ERGEA UK AND IRELAND LIMITED {CONTINUED)

A further description of our responsihilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the
Financial Reporting Council's website at https://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of
our auditor’s report.

Use of our report

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies
Act 2006, Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members those matters we are
required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do
not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and the company’s members as a body, for our
audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

PN

Corngy ?éqw’t%w

Kate Allen (Senior statutory auditor)
for and an behalf of Ernst & Young LLP, Statutory Auditor
Reading

Date: 29 September 2023

Page 16



ERGEA UK AND IRELAND LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVF INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

Note 2022 2021
£000 £000
Revenue 5 108,835 103,753
Cost of sales (85,546) (280,270)
Gross profit 23,289 23,483
Administrative expenses {8,032} {7,533)
Profit from operations 7I§5§ N 15,95(7)H
Finance income 8 416 408
Finance expense 8 {1,880) {1,546)
Profit before tax 13,793 14,812
Tax expense 9 (2,592) {2,460)
Profit for the year 11,201 12,352
Other comprehensive income:
Other comprehensive income - -
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax o - -
Total comprehensive income 11,201 12,352

The above are all frem centinuing operations.
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ERGEA UK AND IRELAND LIMITED

REGISTERED NUMBER: (4328629

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Assets
Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment

Intangible assets

Goodwill

Trade and other receivables
Deferred tax assets

Current assets

Inventories

Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

Total assets

Liahilities
Non-current liabilities

Interest hearing loans and borrowings

Current liabilities
Trade and other liabilities

Interest bearing loans and horrowings

Total liabilities

Net assets

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2022

Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent

Retained earnings

Total Equity

Note

10
11
12
14

13
14

16

15
16

31-Dec 31-Dec
2022 2021
£000 £000
8,940 8,046
1,570 1,269
19,241 19,241
25,674 26,434
1 831
55,426 55,821
1,820 1,618
34,796 25,176
12,167 18,807
48,783 45,601
104,209 101,422
37,355 25,428
19,139 22,396
659 683
19,798 23,079
57,153 48,567
47,056 52,855
47,056 52,855
47,056 52,855

The financial statements on pages 17 to 63 were approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors
on 28 September 2023 and were signed on its behalf by:

D A Rolfe
Director

The notes on pages 21 to 63 farm part of these financial statements.
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ERGEA UK AND IRELAND LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

Total attributable to
equity holders of parent

Retained
earnings Total equity
£000 £000
At 1 January 2022 52,855 52,855
Comprehensive income for the year
Profit for the year 11,201 11,201
Total comprehensive income 11,201 11,201
Dividends (17,000} (17,000}
At 31 December 2022 47,056 47,056
At 1 lanuary 2021 42,503 42,503
Comprehensive income for the year
Profit for the year 12,352 12,352
Total comprehensive income 12,352 12,352
Dividends (2,000} (2,000)
At 31 December 2021 52,855 52,855

The notes on pages 21 to 63 form part of these financial statements.
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ERGEA UK AND IRELAND LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

2022 2021

£000 £000
Cash flows from operating activities
Profit far the year 11,201 12,352
Adjustments for:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 1,745 1,511
Amortisation of intangible fixed assets 657 963
Finance income (416} (408)
Finance expense 1,880 1,546
Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment 106 62
Income tax expense 2,592 2,460

17,765 18,486

Movements in working capital:
{Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables (8,827} 1,322
{Increase)/decrease in inventories {202} 88
{Decrease) in trade and ather payables (3,447} (5,901)
Cash generated frem operations 5,289 13,995
Income taxes paid {1,516) {1,893)
Net cash from operating activities 3,773 12,102
Cash flows from investing activities
{Outflow)/inflow from loan repayments/receipts (21) 1,346
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (2,464} {1,356)
Purchase of intangibles (958} {225)
From/(used in) investing activity 416 394
Net cash used in investing activities (3,027} 159
Cash flows from financing activities
Increase/(decrease) to borrowings 12,048 {1,346)
Interest paid on loans (1,948) {1,543)
Payment of principa! of lease liabilities {486) (364)
Dividends paid to equity holders of parent {17,000} {2,000)
Net cash (used in)/from financing activities ) {7,386) __-(E,-2§3)
Net cash (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (6,640) 7,008
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of year 18,807 11,793
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 12,167 18,807
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ERGEA UK AND IRELAND LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

2. Accounting policies

1. Corporate information

The publication of the cansolidated financial statements of Ergez UK and Ireland Limited and its subsidiaries
(together 'the Group') for the year ended 31 Lecember 2022 were authorised by the Board ot Directors an 28
September 2023.

Ergea UK and Ireland Limited (the Company) is a private limited company, registered and domiciled in the United
Kingdom. The registered office is Unit 4 Ely Road, Theale, Reading, RG7 4BQ.

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of services and eguipment within the healthcare sector.
Information on the Granp's stritcture is provided in Nate 2 2
Information on other related party relationships of the Group is provided in Note 24.

2. Significant accounting palicies

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022 have been prepared in accordance
with UK-adopted International Accounting Standards with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 as they
apply to the Group

The consolidated financial statements are based on the histarical cost principle.

The consolidated financial statements of the Ergea UK and Ireland are presented in GBP, which is the functional
currency of the economies in which the Group is mainly engaged.

The values shown in the financial statements and in the explanatory notes, unless otherwise stated, are expressed
in thousands of GBP, which means that the sum of rounded amounts does not necessarily coincide with the
rounded total.

2.2 Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of Ergea UK and Ireland Limited and its
subsidiaries as at 31 December 2022. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over
the investee. Specifically, the Group controls an investee if, and only if, the Group has:

« Power over the investee {i.e., existing rights that give it the current ability tc direct the relevant activities of the
investee)

& Fxposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee

« The ahility to use its power over the investee to affectits returns
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ERGEA UK AND IRELAND LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
2. Accaunting policies {(continued)
2.2 Basis of consolidation {continued)
The companies included in the scope of consolidation at 31 December 2022 are shown below:

Cumnpany

%{;glsgeried Share  Typeof  Shareholding Censolidation

S office capital £ interest as%  methad
Ergea UK and Ireland Limited Parent
& 8erkshire (UK) GBP 100 ren 100

. L ie .. Company R S

Ergea Holdings (MES) Berkshire {UK) GBP 1 Direct 100 Line-by-line

Ergea {Managed H;ea-l.t_h_c_.-are)_Limite Rerkshire (UKT GBP 1 - Dire-c-t_ 100 Line-by-line
T8S GB. Telematic & Biomedical R

. ik Essex {UK) GBP 500,000 Direct 100 Line-by-fine

_ Services Limited® _ A

Ergea {Whittington) Berkshire {UK) GBP 1 Indirect 100 Line-by-line

Ergea (Leicester 2] Ltd Berkshire (UK-]_-_(;;_gp___ B 1 Indirect 100 Line-by-line

Company marked * was dormant during 2022 and dissotved in 2023

The principal activity for all of the above subsidiaries is the provision of services and equipment within the
healthcare sector.

The abave subsidiaries will take advantage of the audit exemption set out within section 479A of the Companies
Act 2006 for the year ended 31 December 2022.

Ergea UK and lrefand Limited has given a parent guarantee under s479C to the subsidiary undertakings.

Consolidation adjustments are made to ensure uniformity of the items that are affected by the application of
different accounting standards. Intercompany transactions and balances between group companies are therefore
eliminated in full.

Subsidiaries are consaolidated from the date of their acquisition, being the date on which the Group obtains contral
and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases. Contro! comprises the power to gavern
the financiat and operating policies ot the investee so as to obtain benefit fram its activities.

Ergea UK and Ireland Limited has adopted the following financial statements:

1. Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income

2. Consolidated statement of financial position - assets and liabilities are distinctly classified between current
and non-current.

3. Company statement of financial position - assets and liabilities are distinctly classified between current and

non-current.

Consolidated statement of changes in equity.

Company statement of changes in equity

6. Consolidated cash flow statement: the indirect method was adopted to report cash flows.

oo
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ERGEA UK AND IRELAND LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
2. Accounting policies {continued)
2.3 Going Concern
In preparation of the financial statements, the Directors are required to make an assessment of the business to
determine if adopting a going concern basis in the accounts is appropriate.

The Directors have conducted a business review and have a reasonable expectation that the Company and Group
have adequate resources to continue in operational existence until 31 December 2024. Even in a zero-growth
scenario where no new husiness is added, the Cempany and Group generates positive cashflows. A material
proportion of the business comes from the NHS (backed by UK Government), and from long-term contracts
providing certainty of income beyond the Going Concern assessment period. The Directors have assessed the
political, econamic, social and technology risks and believe the Company and Group is weli placed to successfully
manage these risks.

The Directors have received confirmation from Its parent that it has the ability to provide support and will provide
suppaort in the event this is needed to assist in meeting the Company and Group’s liabilities as and when they fall
due far the period for a period of ot least 12 months from the date of approval of these financial statements. The
parent has also confirmed that reimbursement of the existing intercompany loans would only be required if the
Company and Group had the necessary financial resources to do so.

Accordingly, they continue to adopt the going concern hasis in preparing the financial statements.

2.4 Fair value measurement
The Group assesses financial instruments at fair value at each reporting date.

Fair value is the price that would be received for the sale of an asset, or that would be paid to transfer a liability in
an arm's length transaction at the measurement date.

The fair value of an asset or liahiiity is valued by adopting the assumptions that market operators would use in the
determination of price of the asset or liahility, assuming that market operators act to best meet their own economic
interest.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate to the circumstances and for which sufficient data is
available to measure fair value, preferring the use of relevant observable inputs.

All assets and liahilities for which the fair vaiue is measured or recorded in the financial statements are categorised
according to the fair value hierarchy, as described below:

e Prices quoted in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access on the measurement
date;

s Inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are directly or indirectly observable for the asset or
liability;

e Valuation techniques for which input data is not cbservahle for the asset or liability.
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ERGEA UK AND IRELAND LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
2. Accounting policies (continued)

2.4 Fair value measurement {continued)

For assets and liahilities recognised in the financial statements at fair value on a recurring basis, the Group
determines whether there have been transfers between the levels of the hierarchy mentioned zbove, reviewing
the categorisation at each reporting date. For reporting purposes related to fair value, the Group determines
classes of assets and liabilities based on the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of
the fair value hierarchy as described abave.

2.5 Current/non-current classification
Assets and lizbilities in the financial statements of the Group are classified according to the current/noncurrent
criterion. An asset is current when:

« itis expected to be realised, or is held for sale or consumption, in the narmal course of the
cperating cycle;

e itis held mainly for the purpose of negotiating it;

s itis expected to he realised within twelve months of the closing date of the year;

e it consists of cash or cash equivalents unless it is prohibited; or

s toexchange or use it to settle a liability for at least twelve months after the reporting date.

All other assets are classified as non-current.
A liahility is current when.

« jtis expected to be settled in its normal operating cycle;

e itis held mainly for the purpose of negatiating it;

e it must be settled within twelve months of the closing date of the year; or

¢ the entity does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least twelve
maonths of the closing date of the year.

The Group classifies all other liabilities as non-current.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as non-current assets and liabilities.

2.6 Business comhinations and goodwill
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is determined as
the sum of the amount transferred, measured at fair value at the acquisition date and the amount of the non-
controlling shareholding in the acquiree.

For each business combination, the Group decides whether toa measure any non-controlling interest in the acquired
company at fair value or in proportion to the minority share of the acquiree's net identifiable assets. Acquisition
costs are expensed in the period and classified as administrative expenses. When the Group acquires a business, it
classifies or designates the financial assets received and the liabilities assumed in accordance with the terms of the
contract and the econemic and other conditions in effect on the acquisition date. This includes an assessment to
determine whether an embedded derivative should be separated from the host contract.

Any contingent amount is recognised at the fair value at the acquisition date. The contingent amount classified as
equity is not remeasured and its subsequent payment is accounted for with a balancing entry in shareholders
equity. [he change in the fair value ot the contingent amaount classified as an asset or liability, as a financial
instrument covered by IFRS € Financial instruments, must be recognised in the income statement in accordance
with IFRS 9. The contingent amount that does not fall within the scope of IFRS 9 is measured at fair value at the
reporting date and changes in fair value are recognised in the income statement.
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ERGEA UK AND IRELAND LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
2. Accounting policies (continued)

2.6 Business combinations and goodwill (continued])

Goodwill is initially stated at cost represented by the excess of the total paid and the amount recognised for
minarity interests in respect of the net identifiable assets acquired and the liahilities assumed by the Group. If the
fair value of the net assets acquired exceeds the total amount paid, the Group again verifies whether it correctly
identified all the assets acquired and all the liabilities assumed and revises the procedures used to determine the
amounts to be recognised at the acquisition date. If the new valuation still shows a fair value of the net assets
acquired higher than the amount, the difference (profit) is recognised in the income statement.

After its initial recognition, goadwill is valued at cost net of accumulated impairment. For the purpose of
impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated fram the acquisition date, to each of
the Group's cash generating units expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination, regardless of whether
other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those units.

if goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit and the entity disposes of an operation within that unit,
the goodwil! associated with the operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the cperaticn when
determining the gain or loss of the disposal. The goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is determined
on the basis of the relative values of the disposed operation and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

2.7 Intangible assets with a finite useful life

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. Intangible assets acquired as part
of an acquisition of a business are capitalised separately from goodwill if the fair value can be measured reliably on
initial recognition. Intangible assets acquired as part of an acquisition are not recognised where they arise from
legal or ather contractual rights, and where there is no history of exchange transactions. Intangible assets,
excluding development costs, created within the business are not capitalised and expenditure is charged against
profits in the year in which it is incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and
accumulated impairment. Intangible assets are amortised on a straight line basis over their estimated useful lives.
The amortisation expense on intangible assets with finite lives is recognised in the statement of profit or less in the
expense category that is consistent with the function of the intangible assets. The carrying value of intangible assets
is reviewed far impairment if events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be
recaverable.

The useful economic lives of intangible assets are as follows:

Customer contracts specific to contract (5 years)
Computer software 5 years

If there are indicators that the residual value or useful life of an intangible asset has changed since the most recent
annual reporting period previous estimates shall be reviewed and, if current expectations differ the residual value,
amortisation method or useful life shall be amended. Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern
of consumption of benefit shall be accounted for as a change in accounting estimate.

An intangible asset is derecognised upon disposal (i.e., at the date the recipient obtains control) or when no future
economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising upon derecognition of the asset
{calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included
in the statement of profit or loss.
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ERGEA UK AND IRELAND LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
2. Accounting palicies (continued)

2.8 Property, plant and equipment

Owned tangible assets are recorded at the acquisition or production cost. The cost of the asset includes directly
attributable ancillary costs necessary to make the asset ready for its intended use, increased, when relevant and
when there are current obligations, by the present value of the estimated cost for decommissioning and removing
the asset.

Leasehold improvements are classified as property, plant and equipment, according to the nature of the cost.

Expenses incurred for ordinary and/or recurring maintenance and repairs are directly charged to the income
statement as incurred. The costs incurred for the expansion, modernisation or improvement of awned or third-
party fixed assets are capitalised to the extent that they meet the requirements for separate classification as an
asset or part of an asset.

The cost of tangible assets is reduced by the amount of depreciation, calculated on a straight-iine basis over the
estimated useful life of the asset, and any accumulated impairment losses calculated using the methods described
below in note 2.10.

Depreciation is provided on all other items of property, plant and equipment so as to write off their carrying value
aver their expected useful economic lives. It is provided at the following range:

Long-term leasehaold property  over the shorter of the lease and 20 years
Flant and machinery over 5 years

Computer equipment over 3 years

Managed medical equipment over 5 to 15 years

The assets' residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed, and adjusted prospectively if
appropriate, or if there is an indication of a significant change since the last reporting date.

An item of property, plant and equipment and any significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal
(i.e., at the date the recipient obtains control) or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or
disposal. Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and
are recognised in the Censolidated Statement of profit or loss.

The carrying values of tangible fixed assets are reviewed for impairment when events cr changes in circumstances
indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable.
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ERGEA UK AND IRELAND LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
2. Accounting policies (continued)
2.9 Leasas
The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. That s, if the contract conveys
the right to contro! the use of anidentified asset for a period of time in exchange for censideration.

Group as alessee

The Group applies a single reccgnition and measurement approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets, The Group recognises lease liabilities representing obligations to make lease payments
and right-of-use assets representing the right to use the underlying assets.

i) Right-of-use assets

The Group recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease {i.e., the date the underlying
asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease lizbilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes
the amaount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis aver the shorter of the lease term and the estimated
useful Hives of the assets, as follows:

«  Buildings 12 to 20 years
*  Motor vehicles and other equipment 3 to 5 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group at the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise
of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful life of the asset. The right-of-use assets
are also subject to impairment. Refer to the accounting policies in note 2.10.

i) Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of the lease, the Group recognises lease liabilities measured at the present value of
{ease payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments {including in-substance
fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate,
and amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees.

The lease payments also include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by the
Group and payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising the
option te terminate.

Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as expenses {unless they are
incurred to praoduce inventories) in the period in which the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

in calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.

After the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and
reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying amaunt of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is
a modification, a change in the lease term, a change in the lease payments {e.g., changes to future payments
resulting from a change in an index ar rate used to determine such lease payments) or a change in the assessment
of an option to purchase the underlying asset.

The Group's lease liabilities are included in Interest-bearing loans and borrowings (see Note 16)
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ERGEA UK AND IRELAND LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
2. Accounting policies (continued)
2.9 Leases (continued)
iii) Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases of machinery and equipment
(.e., Lhuse leases Lhat have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not caentain a
purchase option). it also applies the lease of low-value assets recagnition exemption to leases of office equipment
that are considered to be low value. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are
recognised as expense an a straight-line basis over the lease term.

2.10 Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses at each reporting date, whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any
indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group estimates the asset's
recoverable amount. An asset's recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's fair value less costs of disposal and
its value in use. The recoverable amount is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate
cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets. When the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverakle amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable
amount.

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset. In determining fair value less costs of disposal, recent market transactions are taken into account. If no such
transactions can be identified, an appropriate valuation model is used. These calculations are corroborated by
valuation multiples, quoted share prices for publicly traded companies or other available fair value indicators.

The Group bases its impairment calculation on detailed budgets and forecast calculations, which are prepared
separately far each of the Group's Cash Generating Units (CGU’s) to which the individual assets are allecated. These
budgets and forecast calculations generally cover a pericd of five years. A long-term growth rate is calculated and
applied to project future cash flows after the fifth year.

Impairment losses of cantinuing operations are recognised in the statement of profit or loss in expense categeries
consistent with the function of the impaired asset, except for properties previously revalued with the revaluation
taken to OCI. For such properties, the impairment is recognised in OCl up to the amount of any previocus
revaluation.

For assets excluding goodwiil, an assessment is made at each reporting date to determine whether there is an
indication that previously recognised impairment losses na longer exist or have decreased. If such indication exists,
the Group estimates the asset's ar CGU’s recoverable amount. A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed
only if there has been a change in the assumptions used to determine the asset's recoverahle amount since the
last impairment loss was recognised. the reversal is limited so that the carrying amount of the asset does not exceed
its recoverahle amount, nor exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation,
had no impairment loss been recagnised for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognised in the statement
of profit or loss unfess the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case, the reversal is treated as a
revaluation increase.

Goodwill is tested for impairment annually as at 31 December.

Impairment is determined for goodwill by assessing the recoverable amount of each CGU (or group of CGUs) to
which the goodwill relates. When the recoverable amount of the CGU is lass than its carrying amount, an
impairment loss is recognised. Impairment losses relating to goodwill cannot be reversed in future periods.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment annually as at 31 December at the CGU level,
as appropriate, and when circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.
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ERGEA UK AND IRELAND LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
2. Accounting policies (continued)
2.11 Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisabie value. Cost includes all costs incurred in bringing each
product to its present location and condition.

Costs include the onguing puithase cost of inventory and any direct repair costs incurred in bringing stock to a full
waorking condition. The cost of used imaging systems is allocated to the separate components in proportion to the
market value of the individual component so that the cost of zll the parts does not exceed the original cost to the
Group. Net realisable value is based on estimated selling price less any further costs expected to be incurred to
completion and disposal.

2.12 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include deposits held at cali or available at very short term for which no expenses for
collection will be incurred. They are recorded at their nominal value,

For the purposes of the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement, cash and cash eguivalents are recorded gross of bank
overdrafts at the Financial Statements closing date.

2.13 Revenue recognition
Revenues from contracts with customers are recognised when the following conditions are met:

s the contract with the customer has been identified;

¢ the contractual obligations {"performance ohligations"} contained in the contract have been
identified:

* the price has been determined;

¢ the price has been allocated to the individual contractual obligations contained in the contract;

s the contractual obligation contained in the contract has been fulfilled.

The Group recognises revenues from contracts with customers when {or as and when) it fulfils its contractual
obligation by transferring the promised good or service (i.e. asset) to the customer. The asset is transferred when
{or as and when} the custemer acguires control of it.

The Group transfers control of the good or service over time, and therefare fulfils its contractual obligation and
recognises revenues over time, if one of the following criteria is met:

e the customer simultaneously receives and uses the benefits of the entity's service as and when it
perfarms it;

» the Group's service supplied creates or improves the asset {for example, work in progress) that the
customer controls as and when the asset is created or improved;

s the Group's service supplied shall not create an asset that presents an alternative use for the Group
and the Group has the right to the payment for the completed service supplied up to the date
considered,

If the contractual abligation is not fulfilled over time, the contractual obligation is fulfilled at a determined time. In
this case, the Graup recognises the revenue when the custemer acquires control of the promised asset.

The contractual consideration included in the contract with the customer may include fixed amounts, variable
amounts or bhoth, If the contractual consideration includes a variable amount (e.g. discounts, price concessions,
incentives, penalties or ather similar elements), the Group estimates the amount of the consideration to which it
will be entitled in exchange for the transfer of the promised goods or services to the customer. The Group includes
in the transaction price the amount of the variable consideration estimated only to the extent that it is highly
probable that when the uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is subsequently removed, there will
be no significant downward adjustment to the amount of the cumulative revenues recognised.

Page 28



ERGEA UK AND IRELAND LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
2. Accounting policies {continued)
2.13 Revenue recognition {cantinued)
The Group allocates the contractual price to the individual cantractual obligations on the basis of standalene selling
prices (S5P) of the individual contractual obligations. When an SSP does not exist, the Group estimates the SSP
using an adjusted market approach.

The Group applies judgement in determining the contractual obligation, the variable fees and the allocation of the
transaction price.

The incremental costs for obtaining contracts with customers are recorded as assets and amaortised over the
duration of the underlying contract, if the Group expects them ta be recovered. The incremental costs for obtaining
the contract are the costs that the Graup incurs for obtaining the contract with the customer and that it would not
have incurred if it had not obtained the contract. Costs for abtaining the contract that would have been incurred
even if the contract had not been obtained should be recognised as an expense at the time they are incurred,
uniess they are explicitly chargeable to the custamer even if the contract is not obtained.

s Costs incurred in the performance of contracts with customers are capitalised as assets and amortised
aver the life of the underlying contract anly if such costs do not fall within the scope of another
accounting standard {(e.g. IAS 2 - Inventories, 1AS 16 - Property, plant and equipment and IAS 38 -
Intangible assets) and meet all the following conditions:

& Costs are directly related to the contract or an expeacted contract, which the entity can identify specifically;

* (Costs allow the entity to avail of new or increased resources for meeting {or continuing to meet) its
obligations to deo so in the future;

e |tis expected that these costs will be recovered.

The Group has identified the goods and services transferred under the contracts and has determined which of
these goods and services are to be considered as separate performance obligations. Various performance
obligations have been identified in the sales agreements for the equipment:

* Equipment sale
s Maintenance services

The sale of equipment is recognised when the asset is transferred to the counterparty (point in time) white
maintenance services are recognised over the duration of the contract on a straight-line basis {over the time).

Accounting policies also specify the treatment of costs incurred by an entity in obtaining and fulfilling a contract to
supply goods and services ta customers. The Group identifies the costs associated with signing contracts with
hospitals as the costs required to obtain them, and for this reason they are capitalised and amortised on a straight-
line basis aver the life of the underlying contract.

2.14 Accounting for costs and expenses
Costs and expenses are recorded when they relate to goods and services sold or consumed during the financial
year or by systematic allocation when their future utility cannot be identified.

2.15 Interest
Interest revenue and expense are recognised as the interest accrues on the net carrying amount of the underlying
value of financial asset or liahility, using the effective interest rate.

2.16 Dividend
Dividends are recognised when the right of shareholders to receive payment is established. This right arises
following the resolution made on distribution made by 31 December each financial year by the subsidiary.

Liahility to pay dividends is recarded in the financial statements in the period in which they are approved by the
Company's shareholders.
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2. Accounting policies (continued}
2.17 Taxation
Current income tax
Current taxes for the current and prior accaunting periods are measured at the amount expected to be recovered
from or paid to the taxation autharities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are
enacted or substantively enacted by the financial statements closing date.

Current taxes relating to items recorded directly to equity are recognised directly to the shareholders' equity and
not to the income statement.

Deferred tax

Deferred income tax assets and liahilities are calculated using the liability method on temparary differences at the
financial statements date between the reference fiscal values far assets and liabilities and the values recorded in
the financial statements.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised far all taxable temporary differences, except:

+ where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset ar liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and that, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit calculated in the financial statements nor the taxable profit or loss;

* inrespect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and
interests in joint ventures, where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be
controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not be reversed in the foreseeable
future.

Deferred tax asset is recognised for all deductible temporary differences and carry-forward of tax losses, to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary
differences, and the carry-forward of deductible temporary differences and tax losses, can be utilised, except:

» where the deferred income tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business cambination and that, at
the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit calculated in the financial statements
nor the taxable profit or loss;

e inrespect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and
interests in joint ventures, deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that
the deductible temporary differences will be reversed in the foreseeable future and taxable profit wiill be
available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.
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2. Accounting policies {continued)
2.17 Taxation (continued)
In assessing the probability of the availability of a future income against the entry of deferred assets for tax losses
it is necessary to consider:

s that thers must exisl sullicient temporary ditlerences with regard to the same tax authorities and the
same tax subject that will turn into taxable amounts against which tax losses may be used prior to their
expiration;

s that unused tax losses result from identifiable causes that are unlikely to be repeated;

* that there exist opportunities for tax planning on the basis of which there will be taxable inceme during
the year in which tax losses may be used.

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each financial statements closing date and
reduced to the extent that it is ne longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available in future to allow
all or part of the deferred income tax asset to be utilised.

Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each financial statements closing date and are recognised to
the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the financial year
when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted at the financial statements date,

Deferred tax assets and liabilities refating to items recegnised directly in net equity are recognised in net equity
and not in the income statement.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right exists to offset current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.

2.18 Pensions

The Group operates a defined contribution plan for its employees. A defined contribution pian is a pension pian
under which the Group pays contributions into a separate entity. The Group has no further payment obligations
ance the contributions have been paid.

The contributions are recognised as an expense in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss when they fall due.

Amounts not paid are shown in accruals as a lability in the Statement of Financial Position. The assets of the plan
are held separately from the Groun in independently administered funds.
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2. Accounting policies (continued)

2.19 Financial instruments — initial recognition and subsequent measurement
Financial Assets:
a) Non-current financial receivables and other non-current financial assets
Non current receivables and other non-currenl assels Hield Lo maturity are recognised at cost, represented by the
fair value of the initial consideration given in exchange, including transaction costs.

The initial measurement is subsequently adjusted in order teo reflect capital repayments, any write-downs and the
amortisation of the difference between the repayment value and the valuation cninitial recognition. Amortisation
is recorded on the basis of the effective internal interest rate, represented by the rate, which equals, at the time
of the initial recognition, the present value of the estimated cash flows and the measurement of initial recogniticn
(amortised cost method).

b} Trade receivables and other receivables
Trade receivables are recognised at their estimated realisable value, which correspands to nominal value less write-
downs reflecting the estimated losses, if any.

The Group applies a simplified approach in calculating Expected Credit Losses {(ECLs). Therefore, the Group does
not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting
date. The company has established a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted
far forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in
certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or external information
indicates that the company is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into
account any credit enhancements held by the company. A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows

Any medium and long-term receivables containing an implicit interest component are discounted using an
appropriate market interest rate.

¢} Current financial assets
Following the initial recognition, current financial assets are assessed at fair value and corresponding variations in
fair value are included in the statement of incame.

Derecognition
A financial asset {or, where applicable, @ part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is
primarily derecognised {i.e., removed from the Group's consolidated statement of financial position) when:

e The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired or

« The Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to
pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a 'pass-through’
arrangement; and either {a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset,
or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset,
but has transferred control of the asset

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a passthrough
arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risks and rewards of ownership. When it has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset, nor transferred control of
the asset, the Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of its continuing involvement. In
that case, the Group also recagnises an associated liahility.
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2. Accounting policies {continued)
2.20 Financial instruments — initial recognition and subsequent measurement {continued)
Derecognition {continued)
The transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations
that the Gronp has retainad,

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of
the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group could be
required to repay.

impairment
Further disclesures relating to impairment of financial assets are provided in Note 2.10.

Financial Liabilities:
a) Loans
All loans are initially recognised at fair value of consideration received less directly attributabie transaction costs.

After initial recognition, loans are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate
method.

Gains and losses are recognised in the statement of income when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through
the amortisation process.

b) Trade payables and other debts
Trade payables with a due date within standard commercial terms are not discounted and are recognised at cost
(identified by nominal value).

Other liabilities are entered at cost {identified by nominal value).

Derecognition

A financial liability is derecognised when the ebligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires.
When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or
the terms of an existing liability are substantiaily modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as the
derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference in the respective carrying
amounts is recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

iii) Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset, and the net amount is reported in the consolidated statement of
financial position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis, to realise the assets and settle the liabiiities simultaneously.
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3. Changes in accounting policies
New and amended standards and interpretations
The Group applied for the first-time certain standards and amendments, which are effective for annual

periods beginning an ar after 1 January 2022, The Group has not early adopted any other standard,
interpretation or amendment that has been issued but is not yet effective.

Onerous Contracts — Costs of Fulfilling a Contract — Amendments to IAS 37
This amendment had no impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group.

Reference to the Conceptual Framework — Amendments to IFRS 3
This amendment had no impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group.

Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use — Amendments to |AS 16 Leases
This amendment had no impact on the consolidated financiai statements of the Group.

IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards — Subsidiary as a first-time
Adopter

This amendment had no impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group.

IERS 9 Financial Instruments — Fees in the 10 per cent’ test for derecognition of financial liabilities
This amendment had no impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group.
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ERGEA UK AND 1RELAND LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

Accounting estimates and judgments

4.1 Estimates and assumptions

The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions
that affect the amounts reported for assets and liakilities as at the balance sheet date and the amounts reported
for revenues and expenses during the year. However, the nature of estimation means that actual outcomes could
differ from those estimates.

Judgments
The following judgments have had the most significant effect on amounts recognised in the financial statements.

Taxation

The Group establishes provisions based on reasonable estimates, for possible conseguences of audits by the tax
autharity. The amount of such provisions is based on various factors, such as experience with previous tax audits
and differing interpretations of tax regulations by the taxable entity and the respansible tax authority.

Management estimation is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based
upon likely timing and level of future taxable profits together with an assessment of the effect of future tax planning
strategies.

Determining the lease term of contracts with renewal and termination options — Group as lessee

The Group determines the lease term as the nan-cancellable term of the lease, together with any periods covered
by an option to extend the lease if it is reasanably certain to be exercised, or any periods covered by an option to
terminate the lease, if it is reasenably certain not to be exercised.

The Group has lease contracts that include extension and termination options. The Group applies judgement in
evaluzating whether it is reasonably certain whether or not to exercise the option to renew or terminate the lease.
That is, it considers all relevant factors that create an economic incentive for it to exercise either the renewa! or
termination. After the commencement date, the Group reassesses the lease term if there is a significant event or
change in circumstances that is within its control and affects its ability to exercise or not to exercise the opticn to
renew or to terminate (e.g., construction of significant leasehold improvements or significant customisation to the
leased asset).

Estimates and Assumptions

Leases - Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in the lease, therefore, it uses its incremental
borrowing rate (IBR) to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that the Group would have to pay to
horrow over a similar term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to
the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment. The IBR therefare reflects what the Group ‘would have to
pay', which requires estimation when no observable rates are available (such as for subsidiaries that do not enter
into financing transactions) or when they need to be adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions of the lease. The
Group estimates the IBR with reference to the borrowing rate of its parent company and by using observable inputs
(such as market interest rates) when available.
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4. Accounting estimates and judgments {continued)

4.1 Estimates and assumptions (continued)

impairment of nen-financial assets

Where there are indicators of impairment of individuzl assets or in the case of goodwill and indefinite lived
intangible assets, annually, the Group performs imgairment tests based on fair value less costs to sell or a value in
use calculation. The fair value less costs to sell calculation is based on available data from binding sales transactions
in an arm's length transaction on similar assets or observahle market prices less incremental costs for disposing of
the asset. The value in use calculation is based on a discounted cash flow model. The cash flows are derived from
the budget for the next five years and do not include restructuring activities that the Group is not yet committed
to or significant future investments that will enhance the asset's performance of the cash generating unit being
tested. The recoverable amount is most sensitive to the discount rate used for the discounted cash flow model as
well as the expected future cash flows and the growth rate used for extrapolzation purposes.
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5. Rewvenue

The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue for the year:
Sale of goods and services

Commissicns receivable

Fees receivable

Analysis of revenue by country of destination:
United Kingdom

Rest of Europe

Rest of the world

2022 2021
£000 £000
108,648 103,494
187 259
108,835 103,753
2022 2021
£000 £000
108,088 103,006
185 185
562 562
108,835 103,753

Revenue expected to be recognised in the future related to performance obligations that are unsatisfied {or partizlly

unsatisfied) at the year-end is summarised as follows:

Equipment Services

2022
Contract liabilities {30} (3,368)
Contract assets - 6,878
2021
Contract liabilities - (6,498)
Contract assets 120 3,408

Contract assets have increased and contract liabilities have decreased due to the timing of contract invoices over

the year end.

The Group applies the practical expedient in paragraph 121 of IFRS 15 and does not disclose information ahout

remaining performance obligations that have ariginal expected durations of one year or less.

Revenues of approximately £36,958 thousand are derived from a single key customer who is domiciled in the UK

Page 38



ERGEA UK AND IRELAND LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

6. Expenses by nature

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

Amortisation of intangible assets

Foreign exchange (gain)/ loss

Remuneration receivable by the company’s auditor for the auditing of accounts
Pension - employer contributions to defined contribution scheme

7. Employee benefit expenses

Employee benefit expenses {including directors) comprise:
Wages and salaries

Short-term non-monetary benefits

Defined contribution pension cost

Key management personnel compensation

Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and

controlling the activities of the Group, including the directors of the Company listed on page 2.

Director's emcluments
Company contributions to defined pension schemes

The highest paid director received remuneration

The value of the Group's contributions paid to a defined contribution pension scheme in
respect to the highest paid director.

The monthly average number of persons, including the directors, employed by the Group
during the year was as follows:

Operations
Sales & Administration
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2022 2021
£000 £000
1,745 1,511
657 963
(12) 138
201 123
748 702
2022 2021
£000 £000
15,425 13,605
1,711 1,421
748 702
17,884 15,728
2022 2021
£000 £000
230 396
i1 16
241 412
230 273
11 11
2022 2021
No. No.
265 245
70 67
335 312
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8. Finance income and expense

Recognised in profit or loss

Finance income

Interest on:

Gains on {FR516 lease disposal

Total interest income arising from financia!l assets measured at amortised cost

Interest receivable from group companies
Other interest receivable
Total finance income

Finance expense

Interest on lease liabilities

Interest on loans from group undertakings
Loss on IFRS16 lease disposal

Total finance expense

Net finance expense recognised in profit or loss
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20272 2071
£000 £000
361 343

55 63

416 408
150 1s8
1,679 1,348
11 -
1,880 1,546
{1,464) {1,138)
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9. Tax expense
9.1 income tax recognised in profit or loss

2022 2021
£000 £000
Current tax
Current tax on profits for the year 1,762 2,299
Total current tax 1,762 2,299
Total deferred tax expense
Origiridlion and reversal of Lirning dilferences 830 161
Total deferred tax expense 830 161
Total tax expense 2,592 2,460

The reasons for the difference between the actual tax charge for the year and the standard rate of carporation tax in

the United Kingdom applied to profits for the year are as follows:

2022 2021

£000 £000
Profit for the year 11,201 12,352
income tax expense 2,592 2,460
Profit before income taxes 13,793 14,812
Tax using the Company's domestic tax rate of 19% 2,621 2,814
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes / (non-taxable income) 1 (4)
Fixed asset differences (44) 73
Group relief (claim)/surrender (185) (229)
Adjustments in respect of prior years - 5
Tax rate changes 199 (199)
Total tax expense 2,592 2,460
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9. Tax expense (continued)
9.2 Current tax assets and liabilities

2022 2021
£000 £000
Current tax assets
Corporation tax receivable 258
258 -
Current tax liabilities
Corporation tax payable - 12
- 12
9.3 Deferred tax balances
2022 2021
The following is the analysis of deferred tax assets/(liabilities) presented in the consolidated £000 £000
statement of financial position:
Deferred tax assets 831
831
Opening Recognised in Closing
balance profit ar lass balance
£000 £000 £000
2022
Deferred tax (liabilities)/assets in relation to:
Property, plant and equipment 817 (816) 1
Other items 14 (14) -
831 (SZj‘Q_L 1
2021
Deferred tax {liabilities}/assets in relation to:
Property, plant and equipment 980 {163) 817
Other items 12 P 14
992 {161) 831
2022 2021
£000 £000
Fixed asset timing differences 1 817
Short term timing differences - 14
1 831

Changes in tax rates and factors affecting future tax charges

in the Spring Budget 2021, the Government annaunced that from 1 April 2023 the main corporaticn tax rate will

increase ta 75%. The impact of these changes is not expected to be material.
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10. Property, plant and equipment

Cost or valuation

At 1 January 2021
Additions

Bisposals

At 31 December 2021
Additions

Disposals

At 31 December 2022

Accumulated depreciation and impairment
At 1 January 2021

Charge owned for the year

Disposals

At 31 December 2021

Charge owned for the year

Disposals

At 31 December 2022

Net book value
At 31 December 2021
At 31 December 2022

There are no restrictions on title, and property, plant and equipment pledged as security for liabilities.

Other

property,

Plant and Right of plant and
machinery use asset equipment Total
4,689 5,324 4,052 14,085
1,273 17 520 1,810
(444) {74) (1,138) {1,656}
5518 5,267 3,434 14,219
2,225 281 239 2,745

{105} {100) - (205)
7,638 5,448 3,673 16,759
2,454 840 2,525 5,819
750 448 313 1,521
(382) {68) (707) {1,157)
2,822 1,220 2,131 6,173
983 468 294 1,745
(64) (35) - (99}

3,741 1,653 2,425 7,819
2,696 4,047 1,303 8,046
3,897 3,795 1,248 8,940

Property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment and no indicators were tdentified.
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11. Intangible assets

Cost or valuation

At 1 January 2021
Additions

Disposals

At 31 December 2021
Additions

Disposals

At 31 December 2022

ERGEA UK AND IRELAND LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

Accumulated amortisation and impairment

At 1 January 2021

Charge owned for the year
Dispaosals

At 31 December 2021
Charge owned for the year
Disposals

At 31 December 2022

Net book value
At 31 December 2021
At 31 December 2022

Customer Computer
contracts software Total
£00C £000 £000
4,982 279 5,261
131 94 225
T 5113 373 5,486
108 850 958
5,221 1,223 6,444
3,162 92 3,254
891 72 963
4,053 164 4,217
578 79 657
4,631 242 4,874
1,060 208 1,269
530 980 1,570

Intangible assets are reviewed for impairment and no indicators were identified.
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12. Goodwill

Cost

Cost

At 1 lanuary
Movement

At 31 December

TBS G.B. Telematic & Biomedical Services Limited

Goodwill arises from the acquisition of this entity in the 2018 accounting period.

2022 2021
£000 £000
19,241 19,241
19,241 19,241
19,241 19,241
19,241 19,241

The Group performed its annual impairment test of goodwill at 31 December 2022. The Group considers the
relationship between CGU's recoverable value and its book value, among other factors, when reviewing for indicators

of impairment.

The recaverable amountis determined from a value in use calculation. in assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows of the CGU are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market

assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.

As a result of the analysis, there is headroom of £12,170 thousand and management did not identify an impairment

for this CGU.

Key assumptions used in the calculation:

*  Compound annual growth rate on revenue of 5%

*  Gross margin of 27% for 2023 and 29% thereafter

+ Selling, general and administration (SG&A) costs growth of 3%
«  Terminal growth rate of 2%

+ The rate used to discount the cashflows was 7.6% being the weighted average cost of capital (WACC) for the

Group.

The Directors are of the view that are no reasonable possible changes in assumptions
impairment .
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13. Inventories

2022 2021

£000 £000
Raw materials 1,704 1,393
Finished goods and goods far resale 116 225

1,820 1,618

The difference between purchase price or production costs of inventories and their replacement cost is not material.

2022 2021
£000 £000
Inventory recognised in cost of sales during the year as an expense 48,089 46,392
impairment loss was recognised in cost of sales against inventory during the year due to 78 62

slow moving and ohsolete inventory.
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14, Trade and other receivables

Mote 2022 2021
£000 £000
Trade receivables 9,938 5,541
Trade receivables B 9,938 7 77”#5,54-1
Receivables from related parties 24 3,637 3,530
Loans to related parties 1,897 1,877
Amounts recoverable from long term contracts 33,029 33,098
Total financial assets ather than cash and cash equivalents classified as loans 44,046
and receivables 48,501
Prepayments and accrued income 10,573 6,291
Tax recoverable 888 630
Other receivables 508 643
Total trade and other receivahles 60,470 51,610
Less: current portion - trade receivables (9,938) (5,541}
Less: current portion - receivables from related parties {3,637) (3,530)
Less: current portion - loans to related parties {242) (325)
Less: current portion - amounts recoverable from long term contracts {9,983) (9,302)
Less: current portion - prepayments and accrued income (10,573) (6,291)
Less: current portion - taxation recoverahble (258) -
Less: current partion - other receivables (165} (187)
Total current portion (34,796) (25,176)
Total non-current portion 25,674 26,434

Included in the Group's trade receivables are debtors with a carrying amount of £2,082 thousand (2021: £1,643
thousand) which are past due at reporting date but for which the Group has not provided as there has not been a
significant change in the credit quality and the Group still believes these amounts to be recoverable.

The Group does not hald any collateral over these balances.

2022 2021
The ageing of amounts due but not impaired is as follows: £000 £000
Up to 3 months 1,860 1,293
3 to 6 months 181 133
6 to 12 months 90 59
Over 12 months 19 (8)
Not due 7,788 4,064

9,938 5,541
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14. Trade and other receivables {continued}

The ageing of amounts due and impaired is as follows:
3 to 6 months

6to 12 months

Over 12 months

Movements in the impairment allowance for trade receivables are as follows:
At 1 lanuary

Movements in the year

Unused amounts reversed

2022 2021
£000 £000
33 8
16 22
49 30
30 28

3 -

- {8)

33 30

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on terms of 30 to 60 days. Receivables from related parties
occur during the normal course of business and are non-interest bearing payable quarterly. Prepayments are amounts
paid in advance of recognition of the cest in the income Statement and accrued income is the unbilled contracted
accounts receivable. Loans owed from related parties includes amounts due from Ergea UK and ireland Holdings Ltd

comprising of two loans.

Ergea UK and Ireland Holdings
1) Loan which bears interest at 7.75% p.a. and is repayable by March 2025
Current
Non-Current

Ergea UK and Ireland Holdings - total loan outstanding

Ergea UK and Ireland Holdings
2) Loan which bears interest at 15.23% p.a. and is repayzble by March 2026
Current
Non-Current

Ergea UK and Ireland Heldings - total loan outstanding
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2022 2021
£000 £000
194 260
735 846
929 1,106
48 &5
920 706
968 711
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15. Trade and other liahilities

2022

£000

Trade payables 6,727
Payables to related parties 435
Other payables including VAT and other taxes 2,544
Accruals 6,035
Deferred income 3,398
19,139

2021
£000
4,681
4,364
1,873
4,880

22,396

Terms and conditions of the above liabilities:
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Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are generally settled on terms of 30 to 60 days.
Accruals are contracted costs recagnised in the Income Statement in advance of invoice receipt.

Deferred income is revenue that cannot be recognised at the Income Statement date and is held on the Statement

of Financial Position until recognition can occur.
Payables to related parties are non-interest bearing and repayahle on demand.



ERGEA UK AND IRELAND LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

16. Financial Liahilities: Interest bearing loans and borrowings

Lease liabilities (Note 20}

Loans to related parties includes:

Due from Ergea UK and Ireland Holdings Ltd comprising of two loans:

1) Loan which bears interest at 7.75% p.a. and is repayable by March 2025
2} Loan which bears interest at 15.23% p.a. and is repayable by March 2026
Total current interest-hearing loans and borrowings

Lease liahilities (Note 20)

Loans to related parties includes:

Due from Ergea UK and 'reland Holdings Ltd comprising of three loans:

1) Loan which bears interest at 7.75% p.a. and is repayable by March 2025

2) Loan which bears interest at 15.23% p.a. and is repayable by March 2026

3) Loan note which bears interest at 4.95% per annum repaid in 2022

4) Loan which bears interest in the range libar +2.5% rising to libcr+3.5% from July 2023
and matures in luly 2032

Due to Althea Group S.p.A.
1) Loan which bears interest at 5.2% + Libor p.a. repaid in 2022

Total non-current interest-bearing loans and bhorrowings

Total interest-bearing loans and borrowings
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2022 2021
£000 £000
417 358
184 260
48 65
659 683
3,699 3,963
735 846
921 706

- 15,000
32,000 .
- 4,973
37,355 25,188
3014 26171




ERGEA UK AND IRELAND LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FNNANCIAL STATCMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

17. Share capital

2022 2021
Authorised
Number Number
Shares treated as equity
Ordinary '8' shares of £1.00 each 100 100
100 100
Issued and fully paid
Number Number
Ordinary 'B' shares of £1.00 each 100 100
At 1 4anuary and 31 December 100 v 100

Unicredit Bank Ag holds fixed and floating charges over the shares and assets of the Company in respect of the Ergea
Group credit facility. Lloyds Bank holds fixed and floating charges over the shares and assets of the Company in respect
of the Company’s banking facility.

18. Reserves

Retained earnings
Retained earnings is the Group's accumutated retained profits or losses as at the year.

19. Distributions made

2022 2021
£000 £000

Cash dividend on ordinary shares declared and paid
Final dividend for 2022: £170,000 per share (2021: £20,000) 17,000 2,000
17,000 2,000
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED TINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

20. lLeases

Sel out below are the carrying amounts of right-of-use assets recagnised and the mevements during the period:

Motor
Buildings vehicles Other Total
£000 £000 £000 £000
As at 1 January 2021 4,403 81 4 484
Additions - 17 - 17
: (6) (6)
Depreciation expense {400) (48} - {448)
As at 31 December 2021 4,003 44 - 4,047
Additions - 248 33 281
Disposals (net of depreciation) - {65) B {65)
Depreciation expense (416) (51} {1} {468)
As at 31 December 2022 3,587 176 32 3,795

Set out below are the carrying amounts of lease liabilities {included under interest-hearing loans and borrowings)

and the movements during the period:

As at 1 January
Additions
Amendments
Accretion of interest
Payments

As at 31 December

Current
Nan-current
The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in Note 21.5

The following are the amounts recognised in prefit or loss:

Depreciation expense of right-to-use assets
Interest expense on lease liabilities
Total amount recognised in profit or loss

Total cash outflows for leases
Non-cash additions to right-to-use assets and lease liabilities
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2022 2021
£000 £000
4,321 4,668
281 17
190 198
{676) (562)
4,116 4,321
417 358
3,699 3,963
2022 2021
£000 £000
468 443
190 198
658 646
676 562
281 17



ERGEA UK AND IRELAND LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

21. Financialinstruments - fair values and risk management

21.1 Accounting classifications and fair values

Financial assets (Note 14) and liahilities (Note 16) are measured at amortised costs. The carrying amount is a reasonable
approximation of the fair value.

2022 2021
£000 £000
Financial Assets
Debt instruments measured at amortised cost
Trade receivables 9,938 5,541
Receivables from related parties 3,637 3,530
Laais Lo relaled parlies 1,897 1,877
Amounts recoverable from long term cantracts 33,029 33,098
Total financial assets other than cash and short-term depaosits (Note 14} 48,501 44,046
Total current 23,800 18,698
Total non-current 24,700 25,348
Financial Liabilities: Interest-bearing loans and borrowings
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost
Trade payables (Note 15) 6,727 4,681
Other payables (Note 15) 2,544 1,973
Accruals (Note 15) 6,035 4,880
Payables to other related parties {(Note 15) 435 4,364
Loans from related parties (Note 16} 33,898 21,850
Financial lease liabilities {Note 16) 4,116 4,321

53,755 42,069

21.2 Financial risk management objectives

The Group is exposed to a variety of financial risks which result from its operating activities.

The Group'’s risk management is predeminantly controlled by management under policies approved by the board of
directors. Directors identify and evaluates financial risk in close co-operation with the Group's operating units. The board
provides written principles for overall risk management as well as policies covering specific areas, such as foreign
exchange risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.

The Group does not actively engage in the trading of financial assets and has no financial derivatives. The most significant
risks to which the Group is exposed are described below:
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

21 Financial instruments - fair values and risk management (continued)

21.3 Market risk

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in
market prices. Market risk comprises two types of risk: interest rate risk and currency risk. Financial instruments affected
by market risk include loans and borrowings. The sensitivity analyses in the following sections relate to the position as at
31 December in 2022 and 2021.

The sensitivity analyses have been prepared on the basis that the amount of net debt, the ratio of fixed to floating interest
rates of debt and the proportion of financial instruments in foreign currencies are all censtant and in place at 31 December
2022. The analyses exclude the impact of movements in market variables on provisions.

In calculating the sensitivity analysis, the sensitivity of the relevant statement of profit or loss item is the effect of the
assumed changes in respective market risks. This is based on the financizal assets and financial liabilities held at 31
December 2022 and 2021.

Foreign currency risk management

The Group undertakes transactions denominated in foreign currencies; consequently, exposures to exchange rate
fluctuations arise. Exchange rate exposures are managed within approved policy parameters utilising forward foreign
exchange contracts.

The carrying amounts of the Group's foreign currency denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities at the end
of the reporting period are as follows:

Liahilities Assets
2022 2021 2022 2021
£000 £000 £000 £000
Euro 1,041 1,080 174 2,342
USD 67 123 - 359
1,108 1,203 174 2,701

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis
The Group is mainly exposed to the Euro.

The following table details the Group's sensitivity to a 5% increase and decrease in the pound sterling against the relevant
foreign currencies. 5% is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency risk internaily to key management
persennel and represents management's assessment of the reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates. The
sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated manetary items and adjusts their translation
at the period end for a 5% change in foreign currency rates. The sensitivity analysis includes external loans as well as loans
to foreign operations within the Group where the denomination of the loan is in & currency other than the functional
currency of the lender or the borrower. A positive number below indicates anincrease in profit er equity where the pound
sterling strengthens 5% against the relevant currency. For a 5% weakening of the pound sterling against the relevant
currency, there would be a comparable impact on the profit or equity, and the balances below would be negative as per
the below:

Euro impact UsD impact
2022 2021 2022 2021
£000 £000 £000 £000
+5% Impact on profit or loss (43) 63 (3) 12
-5% Impact on profit or loss 43 (63) 3 {12}
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ERGEA UK AND IRELAND LINHTED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

21 Financial instruments - fair values and risk management (continued)

21.3 Market risk {continued)

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in market interest rates. The Group's exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates refates primarily to
the Group’s intercompany debt obligation with floating interest rate.

Interest rate sensitivity

The following table demenstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates on that portion of loans
and borrowings affected. With all other variables held constant, the Group’s profit before tax is affected through the
impact on floating rate borrowings, as follows:

2022 2021
£000 £000
Increase in basis point by 1% 320 50
Decrease in basis point by 1% (320) {50)

21.4 Credit risk management
The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to its cash balances and trade receivables.

The Group has & concentration of risk associated with the revenue of £36,958 thousand from a single customer. The
customer of one of the biggest NHS Trusts in the country and is considered a low credit risk.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the third parties are large international banks with a credit rating of at
least A.

The Group's total credit risk amounts to the total of the sum of the receivables and cash eguivalents.

2022 2021
£000 £000
At the year end this amount to: 72,637 70,417
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

21 Financial instruments - fair values and risk management {continued}

21.5 Liguidity risk management

Liquidity and interest risk tables

The tollowing tabies detail the Group's remazining contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities with
agreed repayment periods. The tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities
based on the earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay. The tables include both interest and principal cash
flows. To the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate curves at
the end of the reporting period. The contractual maturity is based on the earliest date on which the Group may be
required to pay.

over 5
Total 1-3 mths 3-12mths 1-2 years 2-5 years years
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

At 31 December 2022
Loans from related parties 33,898 242 - 925 731 32,00C
Finance lease liabilities 4,116 104 313 372 1,607 1,720
Total and other payables 19,139 19,139 - - - -
over 5
Total 1-3 mths 3-12mths 1-2 years 2-5 years years
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

At 31 December 2021
Loans from related parties 21,850 325 - 20,421 1,104 -
Finance lease liabilities 4,321 20 268 372 1,607 1,984
Total and other payables 22,396 22,396 - - - -
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NOTES TO THE CONSQIINDATFN FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

22. Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

New and

1Jan modified 31 Dec

2022 Cashflows Leases Other 2022
Current interest-bearing loans and horrowings
(excluding items listed below) 325 {325) - 242 2472
Current lease liabilities 358 {358) 417 417
Non-current interest-bearing lcans and
borrowings (excluding items listed below) 21,525 12,373 - {242) 33,656
Non-current lease liabilities 3,963 {128) 281 {417} 3,699
Total liabilities from financing activities 26,171 11,562 281 - 38,014

New and

lJan modified 31 Dec

2021 Cashflows Leases Other 2021
Current interest-bearing loans and borrowings 1,674 (1,674) - 325 325
(excluding items listed below)
Current lease liabilities 356 (351) 5 348 358
Non-current interest-hearing loans and 21,522 328 - {325) 21,525
borrowings {excluding items listed below)
Non-current lease liabilities 4,312 {13) 12 {348) 3,963
Total liabilities from financing activities 27,864 {1,710} 17 - 26,171

The 'Qther' column includes the effect of reclassification of non-current portion of interest-bearing loans and
borrowings, including lease liahilities to current due to the passage of time, and the effect of accrued but not yet paid
interest on interest-bearing loans and borrowings, including lease liabilities. The Group classifies interest paid as cash
flows from operating activities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

23. Capital management

The Group's capital management objectives are:

* Lo ensure the Group's ability to continue as a going concern

s toensure an adequate and solid credit rating

= to provide an adequate return to shareholders by pricing products and services in a way that reflects the level of risk
involved in providing those goods and services,

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is 'net debt' divided by total capital plus net debt. The Group
includes within net debt, interest bearing toans and borrowings, trade and other payables, less cash and short-term
deposits.

2022 2021

£000 £000

Interest bearing loans and borrowings 38,014 26,171
Trade and other payables 19,139 22,396
Less: cash and short-term deposits (12,167} {18,807)
Net Debt 44,986 29,760
Fquity 47,056 52,855
Capital and net debt 92,042 82,615
Ratio 49% 36%

No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes for managing capital during the years ended 31 December
2022 and 31 December 2021.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATFD FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

24. Related party transactions

Balances and transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties of the Company, have
been eliminated on consolidation and are not disclosed in this note. Details of transactions between the Group and other

related parties are disclased below.

24.1 Trading transactions

During the year, group entities entered into the following trading transactions with related parties that are not

members of the Group:
Sales of goods

Purchases of goods

2022 2021 2022 2021

£000 £000 £000 £000

Ergea Global Supply UK Ltd 30 317 2,134 5,295
30 317 2,134 5,295

The following balances were outstanding at the end of the reporting period:
Amounts owed by related

Amounts owed to related

2022 2021 2022 2021
£000 £000 £000 £000

Ergea Group Sarl - - 289 -

Ergea UK and Ireland Holdings Ltd 50 1,877 32,000 19,421

Ergea Global Supply UK Ltd 3,587 447 146 987

3,637 2,324 32,435 20,408
24.2 Other related party transactions
Other related party transactions are as follows:

Related party relationship Type of transaction Transaction amount
2022 2021
£000 £000

Ergea Group Sarl Management fee payable 289 -

Ergea UK and !reland Holdings Ltd Interest nayable 1,506 1,086

Ergea UK and ireland Holdings Ltd Interest receivahle 361 343

Frgea UK and Ireland Holdings Ltd Dividend paid 17,000 2,000

19,155 3,429

Terms and conditions of transactions with related parties

Sales and purchases between related parties are made at narmal market prices. Outstanding balances with entities
are unsecured, interest free and cash settiement is expected within 30 days of invoice. The Group has not provided

or benefited from any guarantees for any related party receivables or payables.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group has not made any provision for doubtful debts relating to amounts

owed by related parties {2021: Nil).
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25. Controlling Party

The immediate parent company is Ergea UK and Ireland Holdings Limited, and the ultimate parent company is Pan-
European Infrastructure 111 SCSp ("PEIF 1l SCSp"}, an investment fund managed by Ergéa Group S.a.r.i. {formerly
nameéd Pan-kuropean intrastructure 1 GP S.a.r.l. {"PEIF 1l GP S.a.r.l."), a limited liability company incerporated
under the laws of the Grand Duchy of Luxembourg. The parent companies of the smallest and largest groups of
which the company is a member and for which group financial statements are prepared is Ergéa Group S.a.r..
Copies of these group financial statements are available frem Ergéa Group S.a.r.l.

26. Subsidiary undertakings

Direct subsidiary undertakings
The following were direct subsidiary undertakings of the Company:

Name Holding Status
Ergea Holdings (MES) Limited 100% Holding
Ergea (Managed Healthcare) Limited 100% Trading
TBS G.B. Telematic & Biomedical Services Limited 100% Dormant

Indirect subsidiary undertakings
The following were indirect subsidiary undertakings of the Company:

Name Holding Status
Ergea (Whittington) Limited 100% Trading
Ergea (Leicester 2) Limited 100% Trading

The principa! activity for all the above subsidiaries is the provisicn of services and equipment within the healthcare
sector and all are located in the UK.

The above United Kingdom subsidiaries will take advantage of the audit exemption set out within section 4794 of
the Companies Act 2006 for the year ended 31 December 2022.

Ergea UK and Ireland Limited has given a parent guarantee under s473C to the subsidiary undertakings.

Ergea UK and Ireland Limited has given a statutory guarantee under section 394C and 448C of all the outstanding
liakilities to which TBS G.B, Telematic & Biomedical Services Limited is subject to at the end of the financial year,
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ERGEA UK AND IRELAND LIMITED

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022
Pension commitments

The Group operates a defined contributions pension scheme. The assets of the scheme are held separately from
those of the Group in an independently administered fund.

2022 2021
£000 £000
The pension cost charge represents contributions payabte by the Group to the fund 748 702
Cantributions payable to the fund at the reporting date 103 89

Other financial commitments Guarantees

The Group has provided the following guarantees at 31 December 2022:

1) Unicredit Bank Ag halds fixed and floating charges aver the shares and assets of the Company in respect of the
Althea Group credit facility. Additionally, Unicredit Bank Ag holds fixed and floating charges over the share assets
of the following subsidiaries Althea Services Limited and TBS G.B. Telematic & Biomedical,

2} Lloyds Bank plc holds fixed and floating charge over shares and assets of the Company in respect of the Company’s
hanking facilities.

3} Guarantee to four customers for the performance in a contract by the contracting subsidiary.

No lizhility is expected to arise in respect to either of the above.

Standards issued but not yet effective

The new and amended standards and interpretations that are issued, but not yet effective, up to the date of
issuance of the Group’s financial statements are disclosed below. The Group intends to adopt these new and
amended standards and interpretations, if applicable, when they become effective for annual periods beginning on
or after January 2023.

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

In May 2017, the [ASB issued iFRS 17 Insurance Contracts (IFRS 17), a comprehensive new accounting standard for
insurance contracts covering recognition and measurement, presentation and disclosure. Once effective, IFRS 17
will replace IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts (IFRS 4) that was issued in 2005. IFRS 17 applies to all types of insurance
contracts (i.e., life, non-life, direct insurance and re-insurance), regardiess of the type of entities that issue them,
as well as to certain guarantees and financial instruments with discretionary participation features.

A few scope exceptions will apply. The overall objective of IFRS 17 is to provide an accounting model for insurance
contracts that is more useful and consistent for insurers. In contrast to the requirements in IFRS 4, which are largely
hased on grandfathering previous local accounting policies, IFRS 17 provides a comprehensive model for insurance
contracts, covering ali relevant accounting aspects. The core of IFRS 17 is the general madel, supplemented by:

* A specific adaptation for contracts with direct participation features (the variable fee approach)

* A simplified approach (the premium allocation approach) mainly for short-duration contracts

IFRS 17 is effective for reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023, with comparative figures required.
Early application is permitted, provided the entity also applies IFRS @ and IFRS 15 on or befare the date it first applies
IFRS 17. This standard is not applicable to the Group.
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Standards issued but not yet effective (continuad)

Amendments to |AS 1: Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current
In January 2020, the IASD issucd amaondments tn paragraphs 69 to 76 of 1AS 1 to specify the requirements for
classifying liabilities as current or non-current. The amendments ciarify:

» What is meant by a right to defer settlement

» That a right to defer must exist at the end of the reporting period

* That ciassification is unaffected by the likelihood that an entity will exercise its deferral right

» That only if an embedded derivative in a convertible liability is itself an equity instrument would the terms

of a liability not impact its ciassification
The amendments are effective for annual reporting pericds beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and must be
applied retrospectively. The Group is currently assessing the impact the amendments will have on current practice
and whether existing loan agreements may require renegotiation.

Definition of Accounting Estimates - Amendments to IAS 8

In February 2021, the IASB issued amendments te IAS 8, in which it introduces a definition of ‘accounting estimates’.
The amendments clarify the distinction between changes in accounting estimates and changes in accounting
policies and the correction of errors. Also, they ciarify how entities use measurement techniques and inputs to
develop accounting estimates.

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on ar after 1 January 2023 and apply to
changes in accounting policies and changes in accounting estimates that occur on or after the start of that period.
Earlier application is permitted as long as this fact is disclosed.

The amendments are not expected to have a material impact on the Group.

Disclosure of Accounting Policies - Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2

In February 2021, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality
Judgements, in which it provides guidance and examples to help entities apply materiality judgements to
accounting policy disciosures. The amendments aim te help entities provide accounting policy disclosures that are
mare useful by replacing the requirement for entities to disclose their ‘significant’ accounting policies with a
requirement to disclose their ‘material” accounting policies and adding guidance on how entities apply the concept
of materiality in making decisions about accounting policy disclosures.

The amendments to I1AS 1 are applicable for annual periods bheginning on or after 1 January 2023 with earlier
application permitted. Since the amendments to the Practice Statement 2 provide non-mandatory guidance on the
application of the definition of material to accounting policy information, an effective date for these amendments
is not necessary.

The amendments are not expected to have a material impact cn the Group.

Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction - Amendments to IAS 12

In May 2021, the Board issued amendments to 1AS 12, which narrow the scope of the initial recognition
exception under IAS 12, so that it no longer applies to transactions that give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences.

The amendments should be applied to transactions that occur on or after the beginning of the earliest
comparative period presented. In addition, al the beginning of the earliest comparative period presented, a
deferred tax asset (provided that sufficient taxable profitis available) and a deferred tax liability should also be
recognised for all deductible and taxabie temporary differences asscciated with leases and decommissioning
chligations.

The Group is currently assessing the impact of the amendments.
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30. Events after the reporting date Group

The financial statements have been prepared based upon conditions existing at 31 December 2022 and considering
Liuse events occurring subsequent to that date, that provide evidence of conditions that existed at the end of the

reporting period.
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ERGEA UK AND IRELAND LIMITED

COMPANY BALANCE SHEET
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2022

REGISTERED NUMBER: 04328629

Fixed assets

Goodwill

Cther intangible assets
Tangible assets

Current assets

Inventories

Debtors: amounts falling due after mare than one year
Debtors: ameunts falling due within one year

Cash and cash equivalents

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

Net current assets

Total assets less current liabilities

Creditors: amounts falling due after more than cne year

Net assets

Capital and reserves
Retained earnings

The Company's profit for the year was £8,537 (2021 - £32,327).

Note

W

31-Dec 31-Bec
2022 2021
19,241, 19,241
1,207 786
8,940 8,045
29,388 28,072
1,820 1,619
22,382 22,306
45,320 40,610
12,167 18,807
21,689 83,342
32,248 36,885
49,441 46,457
78,829 74,529
35,699 23,936
43,130 56,593
43,130 50,593
43,130 50,593

The financial statements on pages 64 to 75 were approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on and

were signed on its behalf by:

D A Rolfe
Director

Date: 28 September 2023

The notes on pages 66 to 75 form part of these financial statements
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COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

Total attributable to
equity holders of

parent

Retained Total

earnings equity

£000 £000

At 1 January 2022 50,593 50,593
Comprehensive income for the year

Profit for the year 9,537 9,537

Total comprehensive income 9,537 9,537

Dividends {17,000) (17,000)

At 31 December 2022 43,130 43,130

At 1 January 2021 20,266 20,266
Comprehensive income for the year

Profit for the year 32,327 32,327

Total comprehensive income 32,327 32,327

Dividends (2,000} {2,000)

At 31 December 2021 50,593 50,583

The notes on pages 66 to 75 form part of these financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

1. Accounting policies

The Company adopts the accounting policies as presented under the Consolidated Financial Statements.
Significant accounting policies, judgements, estimates and assumptions
See Note 1 to the Group financial statements for general information about the Company

Statement of compliance with Financial Reporting Standard 101 '‘Reduced Disclosure Framework' {FRS
101}

The Company meets the definition of a qualifying entity under Financial Reporting Standard 100 (FRS 100] issued
by the Financial Reporting Council. Accordingly, these financial statements were prepared in accordance with
Financial Reporting Standard 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework (FRS 101) and in accordance with the provisions
of the Companies Act 2006.

Basis of Preparation

The Company financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis and in accordance with the Companies
Act 2006 and applicable UK accounting standards and present information about the Company as an individual
undertaking, and not about its Group.

The Company financial statements are prepared under the historical cast convention. The financial statements of
the Ergea UK and Ireland are presented in GBP, which is the functional currency of the economies in which the
Company is mainly engaged. The values shown in the financial statements and in the explanatory notes, unless
otherwise stated, are expressed in thousands of GBP, which means that the sum of rounded amounts does not
necessarily coincide with the rounded total.

The Company has taken advantage of the exemption permitted by Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 not ta
publish its individual profit and loss account and related notes. The profit of the parent Company for the financial
year amounted to £9,537 (2021: £32,327).

The Company has taken advantage of the following disclosure exemptions under FRS 101:

{a) the requirements of IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures;

(b} the requirements of paragraphs 91-99 of [FRS 13 Fair Value Measurement;

(¢} the requirement in paragraph 38 of IAS 1 'Presentation of Financizl Statements' to present comparative
information in respect of paragraph 79(a) {iv) of IAS 1;

(d) the requirements of paragraphs 10{d)}, 10({f} and 134-136 of IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements;

(e} the requirements of IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows;

{f} the requirements of paragraphs 30 and 31 of 1AS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and
Errars;

(g) the requirements of paragraph 17 of I1AS 24 Related Party Disclosures; and

(h) the requirements in I1AS 24 Related Party Disclosures to disclose related party transactions entered into
between two or more members of a group, provided that any subsidiary which is a party to the transaction is
wholly owned by such a member.

Where required, equivalent disclosures are given in the consolidated financial statements of Ergea UK
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NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

1. Accounting policies {continued)

Audit fees

The Company has taken the exemption granted under S| 2008/489 not to disclose audit fees paid to its auditors as
these are disclosed in the consolidated financial statements.

Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings

The Company holds inter-company loans with subsidiary undertakings with repayment dates being a mixture of
repayable on demand or repayable on a fixed contractual date. These inter-company loans are disclosed on the
face of the balance sheet. None are past due nor impaired. The carrying value of these loans apuroximates their
fair value. The expected credit loss on these loans with subsidiary undertakings is expected to be immaterial, both
on initial recognition and subsequently.

Investments

The Company recognises its investments in subsidiaries at cost less any provisions made for impairment. The
Company assesses investments for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying value of an investment may not be recoverable. If any such indication of impairment exists, the Company
makes an estimate of its recoverable amount. Where the carrying amount of an investment exceeds its recoverable
amount, the investment is cansidered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount.
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2. Tangible fixed assets

Uther
property,
Plant and Right of plant and
machinery use asset equipment Total
£000 £000 £000 £000
Cost or valuation
At 1January 2021 4,689 5,324 4,021 14,034
Additions 1,273 17 520 1,810
Disposals (444) (74) (1,108) (1,626)
At 31 December 2021 5,518 5,267 3,433 14,218
Additions 2,225 281 239 2,745
Disposals (105) {100) - (205)
At 31 December 2022 7,638 5,448 3,672 16,758
Accumulated depreciation and impairment
At 1January 2021 2,454 2840 2,494 5,788
Charge owned for the year 750 248 313 1,511
Disposals (382) (68} {676) (1,126)
At 31 December 2021 2,822 1,220 2,131 6,173
Charge owned for the year 983 468 294 1,745
Disposals {64) {35} - (99)
At 31 December 2022 3,741 1,653 2,424 7,818
Net hook value
At 31 December 2021 2,696 4,047 1,302 8,045
At 31 December 2022 3,897 3,795 1,248 8,940

There are no restrictions on title, and property, plant and equipment pledged as security for liabilities.
Property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment and no indicators were identified.

Please refer to note 15 for more information regarding leases.

Page 68



ERGEA UK AND IRELAND LIMITED

NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

3. Other intangible assets

Customer Camputer
contracts software Total
£000 £000 £000

Cost or valuation
At 1January 2021 3,111 279 3,390
Additions 132 94 2726
Disposals - -
At 31 December 2021 3,743 373 3,61t
Additions 107 250 957
Disposals - - -
At 31 December 2022 3,350 1,223 4,573
Accumulated amortisation and impairment
At 1 January 2021 1,894 92 1,986
Charge owned for the year 772 72 844
Disposals - - -
At 31 December 2021 2,666 164 2,830
Charge owned for the year 458 78 536
Disposals - - -
At 31 December 2022 3,124 242 3,366
Net book value
At 31 December 2021 577 209 786
At 31 December 2022 226 931 1,207

Intangible assets are reviewed for impairment and no indicators were identified.
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4, Goodwill

2022 2021
£000 £000
Cost 19,241 19,241
19,241 19,241

Cost
At 1 January 2022 19,241 19,241
movement - -
At 31 December 2022 12,241 19,241

Goodwill arose fram the acquisition of TBS G.B. Telematic & Biomedical Services Limited in a prior accounting period.

The Company performed its annual impairment test of goodwill at 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021. The
Company considers the relationship between CGU's recoverahle value and its boaok value, among other factors, when

reviewing for indicators of impairment.

The recoverahle amount is determined frem a value in use calculation. In assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows of the CGU are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market

assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.

As a result of the analysis, there is headroom of £12,170 thousand and management did not identify an impairment for

this CGU.

Key assumnptions used in the calculation:

«  Compound annual growth rate on revenue of 5%

e Gross margin of 27 % for 2023 and 29% thereafter

*  Selling, general and administration (SG&A) costs growth of 3%
«  Terminal growth rate of 2%

s The rate used to discount the cashflows was 7.6% being the weighted average cost of capital (WACC) for the

Company.

A sensitivity analysis was conducted removing the 5% revenue growth and the 3% increase to SG&A costs, which

confirmed sufficient headroom and no indicators of impairment,
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5. Inventories

Raw materials
Finished goeds and goods for resale

6. Debtors: amounts falling due after more than one year

Amounts falling due after more than one year

Loans to related parties

Amounts recoverable from laong term contracts

Tax recoverable

Deferred tax assets

Other receivables

Total debtor amounts falling due after more than one year

Loans to related parties

Due from Ergea UK and Ireland Holdings Ltd comprising of three loans:

1) Loan which bears interest at 7.75% p.a. and is repayahle by instalments by March 2025
2) Loan which bears interest at 15.23% p.a. and is repayable by instalments by March 2026

Due from Ergea (Leicester 2) Ltd
1) Loan which bears interest at 6.8% p.a. and is repayable by instalments by 2026

Due from Ergea Holdings (MES) Ltd comprising of a loan:
1) Loan which bears interest at 7.0% p.a. and is repayable by instalments by 2026
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2022 2021
£000 £000
1,705 1,394
115 225
1,820 1,619
2022 2021
£000 £000
20,720 21,199
690 -
630 630

- 21

342 456
22,382 22,306
2022 2021
£000 £000
735 846
920 706
16,816 17,398
2,249 2,249
20,720 21,199




ERGEA UK AND IRELAND LIMITED

NOTES TO THE COMPANY TINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

7. Debtors: amounts falling due within one year

2022 2021
Amounts due within one year £000 £000
Trade receivables 7,050 3,745
Amounts recoverable from long term contracts 2,442 1,629
Receivabies from related parties 22,700 24,147
Loans to related parties 5,376 6,226
Other receivables 166 187
Prepayments and accrued inceme 7,328 4,676
Tax recoverable 258
Total debtor amounts falling due within one year 45,320 40,610
Amounts owed by trade debtors is stated net of provision of £33 thousand {2021: £30 thousand}

2022 2021
Loans to related parties £000 £000
Due from Ergea UK and Ireland Holdings Ltd comprising of three loans:

1) Loan which bears interest at 7.75% p.a. and is repayable by instalments by March 2025 194 260
2) Loan which bears interest at 15.23% p.a. and is repayable by instalments by March 2026 48 65
Due from Ergea {Leicester 2} Ltd comprising of two loans:

1) Loan which bears interest at 6.8% p.a. and is repayable by instalments by 2026 2,918 2,798
2) Loan which bears interest at 6.8% p.a. and is repayable by instalments by 2026 2,216 3,103
5,376 6,226

Trade receivahles are non-interest bearing and are generzlly on terms of 30 to 60 days. Receivables from related parties
occur during the narmal course of husiness and are non-interest bearing payable quarterly. Prepayments are amounts
paid in advance of recognition of the cost in the Income Statement and accrued income is the unbilled contracted
accounts receivable.
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8. Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

2022 2021

£000 £000

Trade payables 6,720 4,674
Payables to related parties 13,613 21,443
Lease liabilities (Note 15) 417 358
Deferred tax liability 663 -
Other payahbles including VAT and other taxes 2,544 1,973
Accruals 6,035 4,880
Deferred Income 2,256 3,557
32,248 36,885

Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are generaily settled on terms of 30 to 60 days. Accruals are centracted
costs recognised in the income Statement in advance of invoice receipt. Deferred income is revenue that cannot be
recognised at the income Statement date and is held on the Statement of Financial Position until recognition can cccur.
Payables to related parties are non-interest bearing and repayable on demand.

9. Creditors: amounts falling due after more than cone year

2022 2021
£000 £000
Lease liabilities (Note 15) 3,699 3,963
Loans from related parties 32,000 19,973
35,699 23,936
2022 2021
Loans from related parties £000 £000
Due to Ergea UK and Ireland Holdings Ltd
Loan note which bears interest at 4.95% per annum and is repayable in fuly 2024 - 15,000
Loan which bears interest in the range libor +2.5% rising to libor+3.5% from July 2023 and 32,000 -
matures in July 2032
Due ta Althea Group S.p.A.
Loan which bears interest at 5.2% + Liber p.a. and was repaid - 4,973
32,000 19,973
10. Share Capital
2022 2021
Authorised, Issued and fully paid Number Number
Ordinary 'B' shares of £1.00 each 100 100
At 1 January and 31 December 160 100

Unicredit Bank Ag holds fixed and floating charges over the shares and assets of the Company in respect of the Althea
Group credit facility. Lioyds Bank holds fixed and floating charges over the shares and assets of the Company in respect
of the Company’s banking facility.
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11. Reserves

Retained earnings
Retained eqinings is the Company's accumulated retaied profits or losses as at the year.

12. Distributions made

Cash dividend on ordinary shares declared and paid
Final dividend for 2022: £170,000 per share (2021: £20,000}

13. Fixed Asset Invesiments

Cost
At 1 January 2022
At 31 December 2022

Impairment
At 1 January 2022
At 31 December 2022

Net book value
At 1 January 2022
At 31 December 2022

2022 2021
£000 £000

17,000 2,000
17,000 2,000

£000

500
500

500
500

investment in subsidiary undertakings are recorded at cost, which is the fair value of the consideration paid unless any
provision for impairment. The investment arose in 2018 from the acquisition of TBS G.B. Telematic & Biomedical Services
Limited and was immediately impaired following the transfer of the business to Ergea UK and Ireland Ltd.

14. Events after the reporting date Group

The financial statements have heen prepared based upon conditions existing at 31 December 2022 and considering those
events occurring subsequent to that date, that provide evidence of conditians that existed at the end of the reporting

period.
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15. Leases

ERGEA UK AND IRELAND LIMITED

NOTFS T THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

Set out below are the carrying amounts of right-of-use assets recognised and the
mavemants during the period:

Motor

Buildings vehicles QOther Total

£000 £000 £000 £000

As at 1 January 2021 4,403 81 - 4,484
Additions - 17 - 17
Disposals (net of depreciation) - (6) - (6)
Depreciation expense (400} (48) - {448)
As at 31 December 2021 4,003 a4 R 4,047
Additions - 248 33 281
Disposals {net of depreciation) {65) - {65)
Depreciation expense (416) {51) (1) (468)
As at 31 December 2022 - 3,587 176 32 3,795

Set out below are the carrying amounts of lease liabilities (included under interest-bearing loans and borrowings) and

the movements during the period:

As at 1 lanuary
Additions
Amendments
Accretion of interest
Payments

As at 31 December

Current
Non-current

The following are the amounts recognised in profit or loss:

Depreciation expense of right-to-use assets
Interest expense on lease liabilities
Total amount recognised in profit or loss

Total cash outflows for leases
Non-cash additions to right-to-use assets and lease liahilities
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2022 2021
£000 £000
4,321 4,668
281 17
87 87
190 198
(763) {649)
4,116 4,321
417 358
3,699 3,963
2022 2021
£000 £000
468 448
190 198
658 646
763 649
281 17



